LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC Form 10-K June 27, 2003

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003

OR

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period from ______ to _____

Commission File Number: 0-13959

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Yukon Territory

980-20-9289

(State or other jurisdiction of

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

incorporation or organization)

1680-1140 West Pender Street

Vancouver, British Columbia

Canada V6E 4G1

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (604) 689-4440

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Stock, without par value

(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act.). Yes [X] No []

As of September 30, 2002, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of the Common Stock of the Registrant held by non-affiliates based upon the closing sale price of the Common Stock on such date as reported on the NASDAQ SmallCap Market, was approximately \$78,296,676.

As of June 20, 2003, the Registrant had 19,593,061 shares of Common Stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's proxy statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the Commission within 120 days after the end of the Registrant's fiscal year are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

2002 FORM 10-K ANNUAL REPORT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| PART I | | Page |
|---------|---|------|
| Item 1. | Business | 2 |
| Item 2. | Properties | 10 |
| Item 3. | Legal Proceedings | 10 |
| Item 4. | Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders | 10 |

PART II

| Item 5. | Market For Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Security Matters | 11 |
|----------|--|----|
| Item 6. | Selected Financial Data | 14 |
| Item 7. | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 17 |
| Item 7A. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk | 26 |
| Item 8. | Financial Statements and Supplementary Data | 26 |
| Item 9. | Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure | 26 |
| PART III | | |
| Item 10. | Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant | 27 |
| Item 11. | Executive Compensation | 27 |
| Item 12. | Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters | 27 |
| Item 13. | Certain Relationships and Related Transactions | 27 |
| Item 14. | Controls and Procedures | 27 |
| Item 15. | Principal Accountant Fees and Services | 27 |
| PART IV | | |
| Item 16. | Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K | 28 |
| | SIGNATURE PAGE | 30 |
| | OFFICER CERTIFICATION | 31 |
| | | |

2

PART I

ITEM 1. Business

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this report on Form 10-K to the "Company", "LML," "we," "us" or "our" refer to LML Payment Systems Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. Effective April 1, 2001, CFDC Holdings Corp., CF Data Corp., Check Technologies, Inc., National Recovery Systems, Ltd. of America d/b/a Check Center, National Process Servers, Inc. and Phoenix EPS, Inc. merged into ChequeMARK Inc., which simultaneously changed its name to LML Payment Systems Corp. Subsequent to the merger, LML Payment Systems Inc.'s subsidiaries are LML Corp. (formerly known as ChequeMARK Holdings Inc.), Legacy Promotions Inc. and LHTW Properties, Inc. LML Corp's subsidiaries are LML Patent Corp. (formerly known as ChequeMARK Patent Inc.), and LML Payment Systems Corp. Unless otherwise specified herein, all references herein to "\$" are to U.S. Dollars.

Overview

LML Payment Systems Inc. is a financial payment processor that primarily provides consumer financial payment processing solutions to retailers and other clients in the United States. Our financial payment processing solutions include traditional check recovery, electronic recovery of paper checks (also known as electronic check re-presentment), electronic check authorization and electronic check conversion. We also provide electronic fund transfer switching services to certain segments of the retail industry. We focus on providing our services to supermarkets, grocery stores, multi-lane retailers, convenience stores and other national, regional and local retailers in the United States.

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, we sold the Wildwood Estates property for total gross proceeds of approximately \$2.4 million cash. Wildwood Estates is a 332-acre manufactured home retirement property in Wildwood, Florida which we owned and managed in a separate business segment. Operations included the sale of manufactured homes and lots. In exchange for monthly maintenance fees, we provided the resident community with certain amenities and services commonly associated with similar developments.

Revenue from our financial payment processing services comprised approximately 98% of our total revenue in 2003, compared to approximately 2% for the manufactured home retirement property business. For additional information relating to our business segments and operations, please see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8. of this report.

Strategy

In November, 2001 the U.S. Federal Reserve released research results from three main studies⁽¹⁾: The Depository Financial Institution Check Study, the Check Sample Study and the Electronic Payment Study. The Check Sample Study indicated that approximately 50 billion checks were written in the United States in the year 2000, totaling approximately \$48 trillion in payments. Approximately 50 percent were written by consumers. The study also established that the leading use of checks was for remittance or bill payment followed by consumer payments made at the retail point-of-sale.

We believe that there is a large market for financial payment processing solutions including electronic check authorization, traditional and electronic check recovery and we believe that there will likely be a large market for electronic check conversion services.

1. A Snapshot of the Retail Payments System: Research Results from the Federal Reserve.

The Depository Financial Institution Check Study: The Check Sample Study Electronic Payment Instruments Study, November, 2001

Federal Reserve System

Results from the Electronic Payment Study indicated that approximately 30 billion retail electronic payments were originated in the United States in 2000 with a dollar volume in excess of \$7 trillion. Credit cards represented about half of these electronic payments at 15 billion transactions worth \$1.23 trillion. Debit cards were used in approximately 8.3 billion transactions worth \$348 billion and the Automated Clearing House processed approximately 5.6 billion retail transactions worth \$5.67 trillion.

We believe the escalating use of credit, debit and automated clearing house transactions will present the electronic payment industry with significant growth opportunities.

In light of the payment processing opportunities for checks and electronic payments, our strategic objective is to acquire electronic payment volume across all our financial payment processing services and strengthen our position as a financial payment processor.

We also have a strategic objective to develop revenue streams from the licensing of our intellectual property, specifically, the licensing of the intellectual property associated with our five patents regarding electronic check processing.

In furtherance of this objective, during the year ended March 31, 2003, we granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited sub-license to Global eTelecom, Inc. under our intellectual property estate regarding the processing of electronic check transactions. Global eTelecom agreed to pay an up-front license fee and a running royalty fee based upon each electronic check transaction processed.

We continue to actively seek to license our patent estate and have received various levels of interest from business partners regarding licensing arrangements. Our goal is to negotiate long-term arrangements based upon favourable financial terms while at the same time preparing to enforce the rights granted to us under our patent estate. While we have not quantified the results of successfully licensing our patent estate, we expect that licensing arrangements would have a significant positive impact upon our future financial performance.

Financial Payment Processing Services

We provide financial payment processing solutions to national, regional and local retail merchants in the United States, including supermarket chains, grocery stores, convenience stores and other retailers. These solutions include electronic check authorization, primary and secondary check collections, electronic check re-presentment, and electronic check conversion. We also provide retail clients with selective routing or switching services of credit, debit and electronic benefit transfer (EBT) transactions to third party processors, banks and authorization networks/vendors for authorization and settlement.

Electronic Check Authorization

We maintain a database of consumer check-writing histories and have access to additional databases of consumer check-writing histories. We employ these databases to offer retail merchants protection against fraud through the electronic authorization of checks presented at the point-of-sale of participating merchants. Because many of our financial payment processing services are related, some participating merchants will pay a fee for authorization services, while others may receive electronic check authorization services as an "all-in-one" package in connection with other related services such as primary and secondary check collections. Electronic authorization is also an important feature included within our electronic check conversion services. When using our electronic check authorization service, a retail merchant typically swipes the paper check through a check reader which reads the account and bank information encoded on the bottom of the check in magnetic ink. This information is electronically transmitted to our data processing center for comparison against our check-writer databases and other third party databases. If the check-writer has current delinquent check-related debts or, if other proprietary fraud features are triggered, the retail merchant is notified by way of a coded response from our data processing center. The merchant

must then decide whether to accept or decline the check.

4

Our check authorization services are designed to be flexible so they may be adapted for a retail merchant's particular needs. In some cases, consumer identification is cross-referenced to driver's license information, social security number and other file databases and linked to the frequency of recent check usage and the dollar amount of individual and cumulative transactions within specific periods of time.

In order to enhance our authorization services we partnered with SafeCheck LLC to offer retail merchants an online, real-time consumer account verification service whereby, as part of a transaction authorization process, we could verify that a consumer's account existed and that the consumer's account contained sufficient funds to cover the transaction. In addition to enhanced verification, the SafeCheck relationship provides for the real-time debit of a consumer's account thereby allowing for same day settlement for check transactions. SafeCheck is owned by 11 banking organizations in the United States that together account for 45% of the nation's demand deposit accounts. The bank owners include ABN Amro, Bank of America, BB&T, Citibank, Fleet National Bank, JPMorgan Chase Bank, US Bank, Union Bank of California, Union Planters, Wachovia and Wells Fargo. Three EFT switches are also owners and they include NYCE Corp., Pulse and STAR.

Primary and Secondary Check Collection Services

Through our primary and secondary check collection and call centers in Dallas, Texas and Wichita, Kansas, we employ state of the art proprietary and third party collection system software and technology, including sophisticated database management, predictive dialing, skip-tracing, and both automated and customized collection letter programs to provide retail merchants with a comprehensive solution to combat the high cost associated with returned check transactions. In many instances, we provide check authorization and primary and secondary check collection solutions as an "all-in-one" package to our retail clients.

Electronic Check Re-Presentment

We also offer retail merchants an electronic re-presentment of returned paper checks, or RCK, service. Under this service offering, eligible returned paper checks are directed by the retailer's bank directly to our primary collection center where, in combination with our data processing center, we capture the bank routing and account number and electronically re-submit the check for payment through the facilities of the Automated Clearing House Network.

Electronic Check Conversion Service

We also offer electronic check conversion services to clients. This process involves converting paper checks presented at the point-of-sale into electronic transactions. Our electronic check conversion service is comprised of three distinct steps: authorization, data capture and settlement.

At subscribing merchant locations, a consumer's check is swiped through a check reader which reads the bank routing and account information from the check and electronically transmits this information along with the sale amount to our data center for authorization through our check-writer databases and risk management algorithms. If approved, certain transaction information is captured and the merchant's terminal automatically prints a sales receipt, which closely resembles a credit card receipt, to be signed by the consumer authorizing an electronic debit from the consumer's bank account. The paper check can be returned to the consumer or destroyed as it has been converted to an electronic transaction. Each day from our data center, we originate Automated Clearing House transaction files which include electronic debits against consumer accounts and corresponding credits to retail merchant accounts. In some instances, consumer checks are electronically imaged by retailers at the point-of-sale. In these instances, the electronic image of the consumer check along with relevant transaction data is transmitted to our data center where the image of

the check is archived. In the event the transaction is returned, i.e. 'NSF', the image of the check is retrieved from archive and collection activities can be commenced.

5

Electronic Transaction Switching Services

From our data processing center we offer retail merchants gateway and transaction switching services for debit, credit and EBT transactions between store registers and third party authorization networks. Our service involves a full-function, on-line, interactive, centralized, electronic fund transfer data collection system that provides for high transaction volumes, rapid response time, high system reliability, low cost per transaction, quick response to retail customer inquiries and sales analysis of electronic fund transfer transactions. Our switching and auditing service is primarily designed for medium sized merchants who have multi-lane or multi-terminal retail venues and collect transaction information in a central location. Our switching services sort the transaction information and route each transaction to the appropriate authorization network or processor based upon transaction type, i.e. credit card, debit card, and EBT, for authorization and settlement. Our transaction switching and auditing services are designed to enable retailers to gain on-line, real-time access to all transaction information on a chain, region, individual store or individual register basis. Our switching services are designed to enable retailers to implement new authorization network connections without disruption to point-of-sale transaction services, thereby providing our retail customers more control over their electronic payment transaction costs.

Data Center Operations

From our data center in Scottsdale, Arizona, we manage and monitor certain communication networks that connect retail store terminals and in-store controllers to our host computer for electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion, credit, debit and EBT transactions. We support most major telecommunication options including dial-up, frame relay, and wireless sources. We connect to many debit networks, magnetic stripe EBT programs, check authorization networks and third party credit card processors which allows us to route electronic payment transactions to the appropriate network for authorization and pass this information back to point-of-sale terminals to complete transactions.

We employ proven IBM Mainframe hardware equipment for all of our electronic payment processing including electronic check authorization, electronic check re-presentment, electronic check conversion and credit, debit and EBT card switching. We also employ our proprietary processing software - known as the Retail Electronic Payments System - to process all electronic payment transactions. Our data center is operated by technical and support personnel on a 24 hour / 7 days a week basis. We maintain disaster recovery arrangements with IBM and several communication carriers. We are presently evaluating plans for construction of a second data center which will provide redundant and geographically separate processing capabilities which will enable an instantaneous redirection of all information technology services.

Sales and Marketing

We market our financial payment processing services, including traditional check recovery, electronic check recovery, electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion and electronic fund transfer switching services, directly through an internal sales force which, at March 31, 2003, included 6 sales people who sold directly to local "mom & pop" stores, as well as to medium and large retailers. Our strategy has been to provide a suite of vertical check processing services to clients while also providing electronic authorization routing or switching services for other point-of-sale tender types such as credit card, debit card and EBT.

Our strategy is to cross-sell electronic check processing solutions such as electronic check re-presentment and electronic check conversion to existing clients who may be receiving traditional check recovery services from us. We

have successfully migrated many of our larger clients from traditional recovery services to electronic recovery services and plan to continue this migration from electronic recovery to electronic check conversion at the point-of-sale.

6

Under our LASRtm brand, we are developing and planning to market three distinct electronic check services for the retail point-of-sale: LASR Datatm, LASR Directtm and LASR Debittm. All include certain levels of authorization, settlement and recovery. We believe that the retail merchant community is heavily segmented into different types of merchants who require highly different service offerings. Our strategy is to match individual merchants with the type of LASRtm service offering that best meets their requirements.

In addition to the retail point-of-sale, recently approved rules allow for the conversion of consumer checks from remittance lockbox operators. We announced a partnership with CheckFree Corporation through which we will provide and maintain key technology for CheckFree's lockbox conversion program. We estimate that last year remittance lockboxes processed over 8 billion paper payments. As a market entry into this industry segment, our strategy is to continue to support and maintain our obligations under our partnership agreement with CheckFree.

We presently own five United States patents that describe electronic check processing methods. We plan to develop the profitability of our intellectual property and related technology through the provision of electronic check processing licenses. We plan to offer licenses of our technology in exchange for royalty fees that are typically calculated on a transaction basis. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, we awarded a limited sub-license to Global eTelecom Inc., a company that provides electronic check conversion services primarily, but not exclusively, to the small retailer segment of the market and to mail-order and telephone order businesses.

We are an active participant and sponsor at many trade association conferences and tradeshows including NACHA's "Payments 2003", NACHA's "Electronic Check 2003", the Food Marketing Institute's "Marketechnics 2003" and the "National Retailer Association" show.

We continue to evaluate and examine acquisition opportunities of businesses where we believe our electronic check processing services can be offered to existing clientele in such industries as commercial lockbox, telephone catalogue businesses and Internet businesses.

Competition

The financial payment processing market in which we operate is highly competitive and is characterized by changing technology, evolving industry standards, merchant requirements, pricing competition and rapid rates of product obsolescence. Our competitors include other check authorization, collections, software development and guarantee firms offering some or all of the payment processing services offered by us, including electronic check authorization and collections, electronic check re-presentment and electronic check conversion. There are at least 17 competing verification companies. We believe our largest competitors are First Data's TeleCheck Services, Certegy, Inc. Visa USA and ECHO's XPRESSCHEX, Inc. In addition, we anticipate that entities within the related credit card and banking industry, which are both highly competitive, may provide competing electronic checking services in the future. Many of our competitors have greater technical, financial and marketing resources than us and, as a result, may be able to respond more quickly to changes in technology, industry standards and merchant requirements or may be able to devote greater resources to product development and marketing than us.

There can be no assurance that our current products and services will not become obsolete or that we will have the financial, technical and marketing resources and support facilities to compete successfully in the future.

We believe that part of our success will depend on our ability to successfully market existing products, to acquire transaction volume, and to develop and introduce new products and services in addition to or as enhancements of existing products and services. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to increase our transaction volume, develop and introduce new products and services in addition to, or as enhancements of, existing products and services or compete successfully in the future.

7

Regulatory Matters

Various aspects of our business are either subject to or may be affected by current and future governmental and other regulations in many different jurisdictions. The rules, regulations, policies and procedures affecting our business are constantly subject to change.

Certain check collection and electronic check re-presentment services that we provide are governed by the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Electronic check re-presentment transactions are subject to applicable National Automated Clearing House Association ("NACHA") Operating Rules, and applicable Uniform Commercial Code statutes. Our electronic check conversion transactions currently utilize the facilities of the Automated Clearing House Network and therefore are governed by and subject to NACHA Operating Rules and Regulation E. We use commercially reasonable efforts to oversee compliance with the requirements of these acts and regulations.

Intellectual Property

We rely upon a combination of trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret law to establish and protect our trademarks, software and inventions. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to protect and enforce intellectual property protection for the technology contained in our patents and the Retail Electronic Payment System. Certain unique aspects of our intellectual property are protected by patents. For example, U.S. Patent No. 5,484,988, owned by us, describes an electronic checkwriting point-of-sale system for consumer transactions that does not require the negotiation of a paper check. Moreover, the 5,484,988 patent addresses the electronic submission of transactions through a centralized database and authorization system for approval electronically, electronic debiting of consumer bank accounts and electronic crediting of designated merchant accounts in real-time or off-line modes using the facilities of the Automated Clearing House Network or any competing network.

Also included in our intellectual property estate is U.S. Patent No. 6,164,528 regarding, among other issues, Internet purchases where payments from checking accounts are authorized over the Internet. This patent, which was granted by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on December 26, 2000, is designed to include protection for our electronic check processing methods as applied to Internet purchases.

In addition, on September 4, 2001, we received notification of the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 6,283,366. This patent addresses electronic check conversion regarding corporate checks and electronic fund transfers and relates to existing U.S. Patent No. 5,484,988 and U.S. Patent No. 6,164,528. On March 12, 2002, we received notification of the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 6,354,491. This patent addresses electronic check processing and relates to existing U.S. Patent Nos. 5,484,988, 6,164,528 and 6,283,366.

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, we received notification of the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 6,547,129. This patent addresses electronic check processing and relates to existing U.S. Patent Nos. 5,484,988, 6,164,528, 6,283,366 and 6,354,491.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, we granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited sub-license to Global eTelecom, Inc. under our intellectual property estate regarding the processing of electronic check transactions.

Global eTelecom agreed to pay the subsidiary an up-front license fee and a running royalty fee based upon each electronic check transaction processed.

We intend to continue to file additional patent applications to expand our intellectual property estate, seeking coverage of our developments in our business areas. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and contractual provisions to establish and protect proprietary rights in our Retail Electronic Payment System software and certain other software.

8

There can be no assurance that these protections will be adequate to deter misappropriation of our technologies or independent third-party development of similar technologies. The cost of prosecuting a claim of infringement against others, or defending a patent infringement claim, may be substantial and there can be no assurance that we will have the resources necessary to successfully

prosecute or defend a patent infringement claim. Although we do not believe that our technology infringes the patent rights of others, there can be no assurance that infringement claims will not be made in the future or that the validity of any patent issued to us will be sustained if judicially tested.

Risks Associated with the Development of our Business

As we continue to develop our business in the financial payment processing industry, we may encounter unforeseen difficulties, some of which may be beyond our ability to control related to marketing, product development, regulation, or proprietary technology. The success of our business will depend on, among other things, the demand for and cost of marketing our technology, the volume and total value of transactions processed by merchants utilizing our technology, the technological adaptation of electronic check conversion end-users, the renewal of material contracts with existing clients, our ability to anticipate and respond to technological changes, particularly with respect to e-commerce, in a highly competitive industry characterized by rapid technological change and rapid rates of product obsolescence, our ability to develop and market new product enhancements and new products and services that respond to technological change or evolving industry standards, and the cost of protecting our technological products. The actual results of our operations in the future may vary widely due to, but not limited to, technological changes, increased competition, new government regulation or intervention in the industry, general economic conditions and other risks described in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Corporate History

We were originally incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada, as a "specially limited company" on January 24, 1974. In October 1997, after receipt of shareholder approval, our directors elected to change our governing corporate jurisdiction to the Yukon Territory, which change became effective in November 1997. Under the Yukon Business Corporations Act, we are a corporation, which enjoys limited liability for its shareholders, is governed by its Board of Directors and generally has the powers and capacity attributable to a corporation.

Employees

There exists competition for personnel in the financial payment processing industry. We believe that our future success will depend in part on our continued ability to hire and retain qualified personnel. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in attracting and retaining a sufficient number of qualified employees to conduct our business in the future. As of June 20, 2003, we had 100 full-time employees and 1 part-time employee, including 6 employees in sales and marketing and 13 employees in administration and finance. We also employ consultants to perform services for us from time to time.

Business Concentration

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, fees from and associated with our three largest customers amounted to approximately 46% of total revenue. 7-Eleven, JC Penney, and Dillon's were our principal customers. In fiscal year 2003, revenue from 7-Eleven, JC Penney, and Dillon's amounted to approximately 22%, 13% and 11%, respectively, of our total revenue. We may be economically dependent on revenue from these customers.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, JC Penney, one of our largest customers and responsible for approximately 20% of total revenue in the year ended 2002, sought bids from us and other financial payment processing service providers to provide both a new centralized return service and an electronic check recovery service, one of the services already provided by us to JC Penney. Ultimately, we were unsuccessful in our bid to provide these services and by the conclusion of our third quarter of fiscal 2003 no longer provided these services to JC Penney. We are continuing to provide primary collections and other services to JC Penney. As a result, electronic check recovery service revenue received from JC Penney decreased from approximately \$536,000 in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$328,000 in fiscal year 2003. See "Item 7 -- Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

9

Financial Information by Industry and Geographical Segments

Financial information relating to industry and geographical segments can be found in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein.

Florida Manufactured Home Retirement Community Business

Our wholly owned subsidiary, LHTW Properties Inc., owned and operated a retirement styled residential community located in Wildwood, Florida, known as Wildwood Estates. Wildwood Estates consisted of approximately 332 acres including approximately 76 acres of platted and developed land, 136 acres of developable area outside of the platted area, and 120 acres of wetlands.

Wildwood Estates is a manufactured home subdivision. All residents owned their own home and land and paid for the amenities, upkeep and maintenance of common area facilities.

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, our wholly owned subsidiary, LHTW Properties Inc., sold the Wildwood Estates property for total gross proceeds of approximately \$2.4 million cash.

10

ITEM 2. Properties

Office Space.

As of June 20, 2003, we leased office space containing approximately 34,000 square feet of floor space for our operations. Our principal facilities include:

Approximate

<u>Location</u> <u>Square Feet</u> <u>Description</u>

Dallas, Texas I5,000 Primary Collection operations

Wichita, Kansas I0,000 Secondary Collection operations

Phoenix, Arizona 5,000 Data Center operations

Vancouver, British Columbia 3,400 Administration

Our corporate headquarters are located in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.

We consider our current facilities adequate for our current needs and believe that suitable additional space will be available, as needed, to accommodate further physical expansion of corporate, data center processing and primary and secondary check collections operations and for additional sales and service.

Florida Real Estate.

Wildwood Estates is a manufactured home subdivision located in Wildwood, Florida and is comprised of five platted subdivisions, along with adjacent land area (common areas and surplus land). The total development consisted of approximately 332 acres including approximately 76 acres of platted and developed land, 136 acres of developable area outside of the platted areas, and 120 acres of wetlands. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, we sold the Wildwood Estates property.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

On December 14, 2000, we received a complaint filed by Todd H. Moore against us in the 150th District Court, Bexar County, Texas. Mr. Moore is seeking an order directing us to deliver an option to purchase 250,000 shares of our common stock at \$1.50 per share, or, alternatively, damages of \$10 million, and certain other relief. Mr. Moore alleges that we retained him in 1998 to assist in raising media exposure of us and that as compensation for such services, Mr. Moore was to receive the stock option. We are unaware of any further developments in this action. We believe this suit is without merit and intend to defend this action vigorously.

Originally, in December 1999, Mr. Moore filed a similar suit against us in the United States District Court, Western District of Washington, alleging substantially the same facts as those set forth above. The original suit was dismissed with prejudice on June 5, 2000. Mr. Moore filed a motion with the court in Washington to have the dismissal in the prior suit changed to a dismissal without prejudice. This motion was granted by the court in February 2001. We are unaware of any further developments in this action.

Other than as described herein, we are not involved in any material legal proceedings. However, we are party from time to time to additional ordinary litigation incidental to our business, none of which is expected to have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations, financial position or liquidity.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

11

PART II

ITEM 5. Market For Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Security Matters

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market's SmallCap Market, which is the principal market for our common stock, and trades under the symbol "LMLP". Our common stock is neither listed nor traded on any foreign trading market. The following table sets forth the range of high and low prices for our common stock during the fiscal periods indicated. The prices set forth below represent quotations between dealers and do not include retail markups, markdowns or commissions and may not represent actual transactions.

| | High I acs i F rae Y Ended | Low |
|----------|-------------------------------------|------|
| March 31 | \$ | \$ |
| 2003 | | |
| 1Q | 12.44 | 6.70 |
| 2Q | 7.24 | 3.50 |
| 3Q | 13.93 | 5.05 |
| 4Q | 13.75 | 4.74 |
| 2002 | | |
| 1Q | 5.75 | 3.50 |
| 2Q | 5.30 | 3.75 |
| 3Q | 5.23 | 3.12 |
| 4Q | 12.10 | 3.37 |

The prices set forth above are not necessarily indicative of liquidity of the trading market for our common stock. Trading in our common stock is limited and sporadic.

Our common stock price is volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been volatile in the past and may change rapidly in the future. The following factors, among others, may cause significant volatility in our stock price:

- Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
- Financial or business announcements by us, our competitors or our customers;
- ◆ Announcements of the introduction of new or enhanced products and services by us or our competitors;
- ◆ Announcements of mergers, joint development efforts or corporate partnerships in the electronic commerce market;
- Market conditions in the banking, telecommunications, technology and emerging growth sectors:
- Rumors relating to our competitors or us; and
- ◆ General market or economic conditions.

In addition, the U.S. stock markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations which have particularly affected the trading price of equity securities of many technology companies.

12

Holders of Common Stock

As of June 2, 2003, there were approximately 409 record holders of our common stock, with 19,593,061 shares outstanding. The number of holders of record is based on the actual number of holders registered on the books of our transfer agent and does not reflect holders of shares in "street name" or persons, partnerships, associations, corporations or other entities identified in security position listings maintained by depository trust companies.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock in the past and have no current plan to pay dividends in the future. We intend to devote all funds to the operation of our businesses.

Canadian Federal Tax Considerations

General

There are no foreign or currency controls in Canada, and there are no exchange restrictions on borrowing from abroad, on the repatriation of capital, or the ability to remit dividends, profits, interests, royalties, or other payments to non-resident holders of our common stock. However, any such remittance to a resident of the United States is subject to a reduced withholding tax pursuant to various Articles of the Canada-United States Income Tax Convention, 1980 (the "Treaty") between Canada and the United States.

Dividends

Generally, dividends that are paid or credited by Canadian corporations to non-resident shareholders are subject to a nonresident tax of 25%. However, the Treaty provides that dividends paid by a Canadian corporation to a corporation resident of the United States with no permanent establishment in Canada, which owns at least 10% of our voting stock paying the dividend, are subject to the Canadian non-resident withholding tax of 5%. In all other cases, when a dividend is paid by a Canadian corporation to the beneficial owner resident in the United States, the Canadian non-resident withholding tax is 15% of the amount of the dividend.

The reduced withholding tax rates do not apply if the beneficial owner of the shares carries on business through a permanent establishment in Canada and the stock holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment. In such a case, the dividends are taxable in Canada as general business profits at rates that may exceed the 5% or 15% rates applicable to dividends that are not effectively connected with a Canadian permanent establishment.

The Treaty permits Canada to apply its domestic law rules for differentiating dividends from interest and other disbursements. Stock dividends are subject to the normal Canadian non-resident withholding tax rules on the amount of the dividend. The amount of a stock dividend is equal to the increase in our paid-up capital by virtue of the dividend.

Interest

Generally, interest paid or credited to a non-resident is subject to a 25% Canadian withholding tax. If, at a time when interest has accrued but is not yet payable, the holder of the debt transfers it to a Canadian resident or, in certain

circumstances, a non-resident who carries on business in Canada, part of the proceeds of the disposition may be considered to be interest for Canadian income tax purposes. Under the Treaty, the rate of withholding tax on interest paid to a United States resident is 10%. For Treaty purposes, interest means interest as defined by domestic Canadian income tax rules. The withholding tax applies to the gross amount of the interest payment.

13

Capital Gains

Non-residents are subject to Canadian income tax on dispositions of "taxable Canadian property." Taxable Canadian property includes shares of a publicly traded Canadian corporation if, at any time during the preceding five years, the non-resident and persons with whom the non-resident did not deal at arm's length owned at least 25% of the issued and outstanding shares of any class of stock.

The applicable tax rate on capital gains realized by a non-resident is 18.06% for corporations and 21.46% for individuals. Under the Treaty, capital gains realized by a United States resident on the disposition of shares of a Canadian corporation are exempt from Canadian income tax, unless (i) the value of the shares is derived principally from Canadian real property, or (ii) the shares are effectively connected with a permanent Canadian establishment of such non-resident, the capital gains are attributable to such permanent establishment, and the gains are realized not later than twelve months after the termination of such permanent establishment.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of March 31, 2003 about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of our existing equity compensation plans, including the 1996 Stock Option Plan and the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan:

| | (A) | (B) | (C) |
|--|---|--|--|
| PLAN CATEGORY | Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights | Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights | Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (A)) |
| Equity compensation plans approved by security holders ¹ | J,015,000 | \$6.08 | J,482,500 |
| Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders | 80,000 | \$7.21875 | - |
| 2 | | | |
| Total | J,095,000 | - | J,482,500 |

1. These plans consist of (i) the 1996 Stock Option Plan, (ii) the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan

2. These plans consist of 80,000 options granted to a former consulting agreement dated November 30, 1999, vesting over a period of 1 year, expiring on November 30, 2005.

14

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary historical financial and other data. The selected historical financial data presented below as of and for each of the years in the five year period ended March 31, 2003, is derived from audited Consolidated Financial Statements (see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8). Readers should read the financial data below together with Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" ("MD&A") and with our Consolidated Financial Statements, including the notes thereto (2003, 2002 and 2001 only), included elsewhere in this annual report.

15

Table of Selected Financial Data¹

Year Ended March 31

(Presented under Canadian GAAP)

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 | 2000 | 1999 |
|--|---------|---------|----------|----------|---------|
| Statement of operations data: | | | | | |
| Operating revenue | \$8,773 | \$9,268 | \$10,071 | \$3,045 | \$234 |
| Net loss ³ | (3,048) | (5,238) | (5,214) | (2,347) | (2,315) |
| Per share - basic | (.16) | (.27) | (.34) | (.19) | (.22) |
| Per share - diluted | (.16) | (.27) | (.34) | (.19) | (.22) |
| Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic | 19,495 | 19,249 | 16,769 | 12,089 | 10,460 |
| Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted | 19,495 | 19,249 | 16,769 | 12,089 | 10,460 |
| Balance Sheet Data: | | | | | |
| Current assets | \$4,908 | \$5,760 | \$9,659 | \$12,358 | \$150 |
| Total assets ² | 11,553 | 20,919 | 27,311 | 23,738 | 3,562 |
| Current liabilities | 1,346 | 1,952 | 2,976 | 2,522 | 1,101 |
| Long-term debt, less current portion | - | 89 | 274 | 70 | 879 |

Table of Selected Financial Data¹

Year Ended March 31

(Reconciliation As Adjusted for U.S. GAAP)

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 | 2000 | 1999 |
|--|---------|---------|----------|----------|---------|
| Statement of operations data: | | | | | |
| Operating revenue | \$8,773 | \$9,268 | \$10,071 | \$3,045 | \$234 |
| Net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change | (3,048) | (5,238) | (5,214) | (2,229) | (2,433) |
| Per share - basic | (.16) | (.27) | (.34) | (.18) | (.23) |
| Per share - diluted | (.16) | (.27) | (.34) | (.18) | (.23) |
| Cumulative effect of accounting change | (6,434) | - | - | - | - |
| Per share - basic | (.33) | - | - | - | - |
| Per share - diluted | (.33) | - | - | - | - |
| Net loss ³ | (9,482) | (5,238) | (5,214) | (2,229) | (2,433) |
| Per share - basic | (.49) | (.27) | (.34) | (.18) | (.23) |
| Per share - diluted | (.49) | (.27) | (.34) | (.18) | (.23) |
| Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic | 19,495 | 19,249 | 16,769 | 12,089 | 10,460 |
| Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted | 19,495 | 19,249 | 16,769 | 12,089 | 10,460 |
| Balance Sheet Data: | | | | | |
| Current assets | \$4,908 | \$5,760 | \$9,659 | \$12,358 | \$150 |
| Total assets ² | 11,553 | 20,919 | 27,311 | 23,738 | 3,444 |
| Current liabilities | 1,346 | 1,952 | 2,976 | 2,522 | 1,101 |
| Long-term debt, less current portion | - | 89 | 274 | 70 | 879 |

^{1.} The financial information set forth in this table for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 includes our accounts on a consolidated basis. The financial data for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 includes the acquisition of CFDC Holdings Corp. and National Recovery Systems, Ltd. of America d/b/a Check

Center. The financial data for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 includes the acquisition of Phoenix EPS Inc. and Check Technologies Inc.

- 2. The Total Assets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 are reflective of a one-time non-cash charge of approximately \$6.4 million to write-off the carrying value of our goodwill. See the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. The Total Assets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999 have been retroactively restated to reflect the adoption of a new accounting policy of expensing development costs.
- 3. Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principals ("Canadian GAAP"), goodwill impairment of approximately \$6.4 million is recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, while under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), the impairment is reflected as a cumulative effect of an accounting change and included in net loss for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003.

16

Other Data

The following table reconciles EBITDA to the accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements:

Table of Selected Financial Data¹

Year Ended March 31

(Reconciliation of EBITDA to Canadian GAAP)

(Amounts in thousands)

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 | 2000 | 1999 |
|-------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Net loss ² | (3,048) | (5,238) | (5,214) | (2,347) | (2,315) |
| Add: | (53) | (132) | (571) | 213 | 107 |
| Interest | 20 | 17 | 58 | 18 | - |
| Taxes | 2,390 | 3,247 | 3,085 | 884 | 349 |
| Depreciation and Amortization | (691) | (2,106) | (2,642) | (1,232) | (1,859) |

EBITDA³

Table of Selected Financial Data¹

Year Ended March 31

(Reconciliation As Adjusted for U.S. GAAP)

(Amounts in thousands)

Edgar Filing: LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-K

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 | 2000 | 1999 |
|---------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Net loss ² | (9,482) | (5,238) | (5,214) | (2,229) | (2,433) |
| Add: | | | | | |
| Cumulative Effect of Accounting | 6,434 | - | - | - | - |
| Changes ² | (53) | (132) | (571) | 213 | 107 |
| Interest | 20 | 17 | 58 | 18 | - |
| Taxes | 2,390 | 3,247 | 3,085 | 884 | 349 |
| Depreciation and Amortization | (691) | (2,106) | (2,642) | (1,114) | (1,977) |

EBITDA³

- 1. The financial information set forth in the table for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 includes our account on a consolidated basis. The financial data for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 includes the acquisition of CFDC Holdings Corp. and National Recovery Systems, Ltd. of America d/b/a Check Center. The financial data for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 includes the acquisition of Phoenix EPS Inc. and Check Technologies Inc.
- 2. Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principals ("Canadian GAAP"), goodwill impairment of approximately \$6.4 million is recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, while under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"), the impairment is reflective as a cumulative effect of an accounting change and included in net loss for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003.
- 3. EBITDA is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. It is important to note that EBITDA is a supplemental non-GAAP measure and does not represent cash provided or used by operating activities. We believe that, in addition to cash flows from operations and net income, EBITDA is a useful financial performance measure for assessing operating performance as it provides as additional basis to evaluate our ability to incur and service debt and to fund capital expenditures. To evaluate EBITDA, components of EBITDA such as revenue and operating expenses and the variability of such components over time should also be considered. EBITDA should not be construed, however, as an alternative to operating income (as determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP or U.S. GAAP as an indicator of our operating performance or to cash flows from operation activities (as determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP or U.S. GAAP) as a measure of liquidity. Our method of calculating EBITDA may differ from methods used by other companies, and as a result, EBITDA measures disclosed herein may not be comparable to our similarly titled measures used by other companies.

17

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this Form 10-K. See Item 8. "Financial Statements." This information is not necessarily indicative of future operating results.

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Forward Looking Information

All statements other than statements of historical fact contained herein are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements generally are accompanied by words such as "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "intend," "project," "potential" or "expect" or similar statements. The forward-looking statements were prepared on the basis of certain assumptions which relate, among other things, to the demand for and cost of marketing our services, the volume and total value of transactions processed by merchants utilizing our services, the technological adaptation of electronic check conversion end-users, the renewal of material contracts in our business, our ability to anticipate and respond to technological changes, particularly with respect to financial payments and e-commerce, in a highly competitive industry characterized by rapid technological change and rapid rates of product obsolescence, our ability to develop and market new product enhancements and new products and services that respond to technological change or evolving industry standards, no unanticipated developments relating to previously disclosed lawsuits against us, and the cost of protecting our intellectual property. Even if the assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are based prove accurate and appropriate, the actual results of our operations in the future may vary widely due to technological changes, increased competition, new government regulation or intervention in the industry, general economic conditions and other risks described in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, the actual results of our operations in the future may vary widely from the forward-looking statements included herein. All forward-looking statements included herein are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph.

Overview

LML Payment Systems Inc. is a financial payment processor that primarily provides consumer financial payment processing solutions to retailers and other clients in the United States. Our financial payment processing solutions include traditional check recovery, electronic check re-presentment, electronic check authorization and electronic check conversion. We also provide electronic fund transfer switching services to certain segments of the retail industry. We focus on providing our services to supermarkets, grocery stores, multi-lane retailers, convenience stores and other national, regional and local retailers in the United States.

Revenue from our financial payment processing services comprised approximately 98% of our total revenue in 2003, compared to approximately 2% for the manufactured home retirement property business. For additional information relating to our business segments and operations, please see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8. of this annual report.

The corporate acquisitions that have been completed by us over the past three years have made our results of operations not directly comparable year over year due to a full 12 months of operation results not being included in prior fiscal years, as well as the increase in amortization for the corporate acquisitions. The acquisition of Phoenix EPS Inc. and Check Technologies Inc., which were completed in fiscal year 2001, were not included in our results of operations until July 2000.

18

In a separate business segment, we owned and managed a 332-acre manufactured home retirement property known as Wildwood Estates, in Wildwood, Florida. Operations included the sale of manufactured homes and lots. In exchange for monthly maintenance fees, we provided the resident community with certain amenities and services commonly associated with similar developments. Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, we sold the Wildwood Estates property for total gross proceeds of approximately \$2.4 million cash.

Results of Operations

Fiscal year 2003 compared to Fiscal year 2002

Revenue

Our revenue consists primarily of fees from our primary and secondary check collection, electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion and transaction switching business. Revenue is recognized in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 101, "Revenue Recognition." Revenue from our electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion and transaction switching business is recognized at the time the transactions are processed by the merchant, provided the fee is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Fees associated with our primary and secondary check collection business are contingent on successful recovery; accordingly, revenue is recognized as cash is received. In accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," we recognize software license revenue when all of the following criteria are met: execution of a written agreement; delivery of software; the license fee is fixed and determinable; collectability of the proceeds is probable; and vendor-specific objective evidence exists to allocate the total fee to elements of multiple-element arrangements, including post contract customer support. Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on the price charged when an element is sold separately, or if not yet sold separately, the price established by authorized management or a substantive renewal rate for post-contract customer support. If we do not have sufficient evidence of the fair value of undelivered elements, revenue is recognized ratably over the support period when the undelivered element is post-contract customer support. Any cash consideration received prior to meeting revenue recognition criteria is recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue regarding Wildwood Estates was recognized when sales of property lots and mobile homes were completed. Maintenance fees from the management of the property and from the maintenance of the common areas were recognized straight line over the service period.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, we granted a personal non-exclusive, non-transferable, limited sub-license under our intellectual property estate regarding the processing of electronic check transactions to a third party payment processor. The agreement involved an initial license fee, in addition to a separate running royalty fee based upon future electronic check transactions processed by the licensee. Revenue from the initial license fee has been deferred and is expected to be recognized over the life of the agreement. The running royalty fee is being recognized on a monthly basis.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, JC Penney, one of our largest customers and responsible for approximately 20% of total revenue in the year ended 2002, sought bids from us and other financial payment processing service providers to provide both a new, centralized return service, and an electronic check recovery service, one of the services provided by us to JC Penney. Ultimately, we were unsuccessful in our bid for these services and by the conclusion of our third quarter of fiscal 2003 we no longer provided these services to JC Penney. As a result, electronic check recovery service revenue received form JC Penney decreased from approximately \$536,000 in fiscal 2002 to approximately \$328,000 in fiscal year 2003. We are continuing to provide primary collections and other services to this customer which resulted in revenue of approximately \$832,000 in fiscal 2003 as compared to approximately \$1.5 million in fiscal 2002.

On March 31, 2003, Fleming Retail Group ("Fleming"), one of our customers we currently provide transaction switching services to, filed for Chapter 11 reorganization in the United States Bankruptcy Court. Fleming recently notified us of its intention to commence closing and selling their remaining grocery retail store locations. Consequently, we believe the transaction switching services currently provided by us to Fleming may no longer be required and, therefore, the resulting impact on future revenue could be a reduction of approximately \$360,000 per year or approximately 4% of our total revenue.

Total revenue for fiscal year 2003 was approximately \$8.8 million, approximately a 5.4% decrease over total revenue of approximately \$9.3 million for fiscal year 2002. This decrease is primarily the result of reductions in revenue from our primary and secondary check collections business. Revenue from our primary check collections business decreased approximately 20.75% from approximately \$5.3 million for fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$4.2 million for fiscal year 2003. Revenue from our secondary check collections business decreased approximately 17.4% from approximately \$2.3 million for fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$1.9 million for fiscal year 2003. We believe the reductions in revenue from our primary and secondary check collections business is partially a result of us no longer providing electronic check recovery services for one of our largest customers and partially a result of softer consumer spending trends throughout fiscal year 2003. Revenue from electronic check verification increased approximately 18.2% from approximately \$1.1 million for fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$1.3 million for fiscal year 2003. The increase is mainly attributable to the rollout of check processing services, including electronic check verification, to 49 multi-lane grocery stores with 268 locations in the Houston, Texas area during the third quarter of fiscal year 2003. Revenue from the licensing of certain modules of our software increased approximately \$490,000 for the year ended March 31, 2003. The increases in electronic check verification revenue and software licensing revenue is consistent with our strategic objective of acquiring electronic payment volume across all our financial payment processing services and strengthening our position as a financial payment processor. Revenue relating to Wildwood Estates increased approximately 14% from approximately \$187,000 in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$213,000 for fiscal year 2003.

Costs of operations

Costs of operations decreased from approximately \$8.1 million in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$6.9 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of approximately 14.8%. Financial payment processing costs of operations decreased approximately 16.2% from approximately \$7.9 million in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$6.6 million for fiscal year 2003. The decrease was principally attributable to our implementation of electronic check recovery methods which allowed us to migrate from labor intensive traditional check recovery methods to more cost efficient electronic check recovery methods. Costs of operations consist of transaction processing costs, personnel costs, equipment related costs and telecommunication costs. For fiscal year 2003, costs of operations as a percentage of revenue decreased to approximately 77.4% compared to approximately 87.1% for fiscal year 2002. Financial payment processing costs of operations were approximately \$1.6 million in the first quarter, approximately \$1.5 million in the second quarter, approximately \$1.8 million in the third quarter and approximately \$1.7 million in the fouth quarter. We continue to seek ways to reduce costs of operations. Costs of operations related to Wildwood Estates increased approximately 24.4% from approximately \$226,000 in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$281,000 for fiscal year 2003.

Sales, general and administrative expenses

Sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, commissions, office facilities, travel, promotional events such as trade shows, seminars and technical conferences and public relations. Sales, general and administrative expenses decreased from approximately \$3.3 million in fiscal year 2002 to approximately \$2.5 million in fiscal year 2003, a decrease of approximately 24.2%. The decrease in sales, general and administrative expenses are principally attributable to lower costs associated with the reduction of personnel costs, legal and general corporate expenses. For fiscal year 2003, sales, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased to approximately 28.7% compared to approximately 35.5% for fiscal year 2002.

20

Amortization and depreciation

Amortization on goodwill and other intangibles decreased to approximately \$272,000 for fiscal year 2003 from approximately \$1 million for fiscal year 2002. Depreciation expenses relating to our system software and other

software increased to approximately \$1.5 million for fiscal year 2003 from approximately \$1.3 million for fiscal year 2002. The decrease in amortization of goodwill and other intangibles is associated with our adoption of the provisions of CICA 3062 and SFAS 142 which no longer subject goodwill to amortization over its estimated useful life. During the second quarter of fiscal 2003, we completed our first fair value based impairment tests and recorded a one-time non-cash charge of approximately \$6.4 million to write-off the carrying value of goodwill. Amortization of goodwill for fiscal year 2002 was approximately \$827,000. Depreciation expense for capital assets decreased to approximately \$581,000 for fiscal year 2003 from approximately \$846,000 for fiscal year 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to certain capital assets, which were acquired through previous years' acquisitions, becoming fully depreciated during fiscal year 2003.

Other expenses (income)

In fiscal year 2003, we had other expenses of approximately \$36,000 compared to other income of approximately \$72,000 in fiscal year 2002. Other expenses were mainly attributed to foreign exchange losses from cash and cash equivalents held in Canadian currency. Other income in fiscal year 2002 was attributed to the reconciliation of outstanding trade payables, which was a non-cash item of approximately \$61,000, an employee tax refund of approximately \$41,000 offset by merger costs of approximately \$30,000.

Interest

Interest expense increased to approximately \$23,000 in fiscal year 2003 from approximately \$20,000 in fiscal year 2002. Interest income for fiscal year 2003 decreased to approximately \$76,000 from approximately \$152,000 for fiscal year 2002. The decrease in interest income was primarily attributed to a decrease in funds placed in term deposits or short-term commercial paper, as well as the decrease in interest rates from an average of approximately 1.58% in fiscal year 2002 to approximately 1.36% in fiscal year 2003.

Income Taxes

We regularly evaluate the realizability of our future tax assets given the nature of our operations and given the tax jurisdictions in which we operate. At this time, we consider it more likely than not that the future tax assets will not be realized through future taxable income. Accordingly, the future tax asset is reserved in full as of March 31, 2003.

Net Loss

Net loss was approximately \$3 million for fiscal year 2003 and approximately \$5.2 million for fiscal year 2002. Loss per both basic and diluted shares was approximately (\$0.16) in fiscal year 2003, as compared to approximately (\$0.27) for fiscal year 2002.

Fiscal Year 2002 compared to Fiscal Year 2001

Revenue

Total revenue for fiscal year 2002 was approximately \$9.3 million, approximately a 7.9% decrease over revenue of approximately \$10.1 million for fiscal year 2001. This decrease is primarily the result of our plan to move away from licensing our Retail Electronic Payment System software

21

directly to clients and implementing a centralized data center processing model which operates our Retail Electronic Payment System and provides clients with transaction based services rather than software licenses. Although this has caused a short-term decrease in revenue, it is expected to increase revenue in the long-term. Licensing revenue and

consulting fees decreased approximately \$400,000 for fiscal year 2002. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2002, we began to recover paper returned items electronically for clients. Revenue from electronic collection activities increased by approximately \$1.7 million for the year while traditional collection revenue decreased by approximately \$1.8 million for the year. Transaction processing revenue increased by approximately \$200,000 for the year. Revenue related to Wildwood Estates decreased approximately 2% from approximately \$191,000 to approximately \$187,000 for fiscal year 2002.

Costs of operations

Costs of operations increased from approximately \$7.9 million in fiscal year 2001 to approximately \$8.1 million in fiscal year 2002, an increase of approximately 2.5%. Financial payment processing costs of operations increased approximately 2.6% from approximately \$7.7 million in fiscal year 2001 to approximately \$7.9 million for fiscal year 2002. The increase was principally attributable to incremental fixed costs associated with the development of our data center in the second fiscal quarter of 2002. Costs of operations consist of transaction processing costs, personnel costs, equipment related costs and telecommunication costs. For fiscal year 2002, costs of operations as a percentage of revenue increased to approximately 87.1% compared to approximately 78.2% for fiscal year 2001. Beginning near the end of the second quarter of fiscal year 2002, we began to initiate electronic check re-presentment on behalf of many of our clients for whom we had been performing traditional collection services. The implementation of the more cost-efficient electronic check re-presentment methods from our data center resulted in a reduction of costs of operations primarily in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2002. Financial payment processing costs of operations were approximately \$2.3 million in the first quarter, approximately \$2.2 million in the second quarter, approximately \$1.8 million in the third quarter and approximately \$1.5 million in the fourth quarter. We continue to seek ways to reduce costs of operations. Costs of operations related to Wildwood Estates decreased approximately 9.5% from approximately \$249,000 in fiscal year 2001 to approximately \$226,000 for fiscal year 2002.

Sales, general and administrative expenses

Sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, commissions, office facilities, travel, promotional events such as trade shows, seminars and technical conferences and public relations. Sales, general and administrative expenses decreased from approximately \$4 million in fiscal year 2001 to approximately \$3.3 million in fiscal year 2002, a decrease of approximately 17.5%. The decrease in sales, general and administrative expenses are principally attributable to lower costs associated with the reduction of personnel costs, legal and general corporate expenses. For fiscal year 2002, sales, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased to approximately 35.5% compared to approximately 39.6% for fiscal year 2001.

Amortization and depreciation

Amortization on goodwill and other intangibles increased to approximately \$1 million for fiscal year 2002 from approximately \$947,000 for fiscal year 2001. Depreciation expenses relating to our system software and other software increased to approximately \$1.3 million for fiscal year 2002 from approximately \$1.1 million for fiscal year 2001. These increases are principally associated with amortization of goodwill for a full year from all of our previous corporate acquisitions and amortization of our intellectual property, and depreciation of the system software. Depreciation expense for capital assets decreased to approximately \$846,000 for fiscal year 2002 from approximately \$1.1 million for fiscal year 2001.

22

Other expenses (income)

In fiscal year 2002, we had other income of approximately \$72,000 compared to other expenses of approximately \$769,000 in fiscal year 2001. Other income was attributed to the reconciliation of outstanding trade payables, which

was a non-cash item of approximately \$61,000, an employee tax refund of approximately \$41,000 offset by merger costs of approximately \$30,000. Other expenses in fiscal year 2001 was primarily attributed to approximately \$444,000 in costs associated with the Wildwood Estates legal settlement, as well as approximately \$174,000 in costs associated with the merger of our subsidiaries which took place on April 1, 2001, and expenses for potential acquisitions that we have determined will not be completed.

Interest

Interest expense decreased to approximately \$20,000 in fiscal year 2002 from approximately \$114,000 in fiscal year 2001. This decrease was due to the decrease in long-term debt. Interest income for fiscal year 2002 decreased to approximately \$152,000 from approximately \$685,000 for fiscal year 2001. The decrease in interest income was primarily attributed to a decrease in funds placed in term deposits or short-term commercial paper, as well as the decrease in interest rates from an average of approximately 6.3% in fiscal year 2001 to approximately 1.58% in fiscal year 2002.

Income Taxes

We regularly evaluate the realizability of our future tax assets given the nature of our operations and given the tax jurisdictions in which we operate. We consider it more likely than not that the future tax assets will not be realized through future taxable income. Accordingly, the future tax asset is reserved in full as of March 31, 2002.

Net Loss

Net loss was approximately \$5.2 million for fiscal year 2002 and approximately \$5.2 million for fiscal year 2001. Loss per both basic and diluted shares was approximately (\$0.27) in fiscal year 2002, as compared to approximately (\$0.34) for fiscal year 2001.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, we received notification of the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 6,547,129. This patent addresses electronic check processing and relates to existing U.S. Patent Nos. 5,484,988, 6,164,528, 6,283,366 and 6,354,491.

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, our wholly owned subsidiary, LHTW Properties Inc., sold the Wildwood Estates property for total gross proceeds of approximately \$2.4 million cash.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity and financial position consisted of approximately \$3.6 million in working capital as of March 31, 2003 compared to \$3.8 million in working capital as of March 31, 2002. The decrease in working capital was primarily related to normal operating activities, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of approximately \$453,000, a decrease in the current portion of long-term debt to approximately \$90,000 as of March 31, 2003 from approximately \$270,000 at March 31, 2002 and offset by an increase in accounts receivable of approximately \$268,000. Cash flows used in operations were approximately \$1.1 million for fiscal year 2003 and approximately \$2.9 million for

23

fiscal year 2002. Cash used in investing activities was approximately \$338,000 for fiscal year 2003 as compared to approximately \$614,000 for fiscal year 2002. Expenditures during fiscal year 2003 consisted mainly of capital asset expenditures which included an update of computer hardware at our primary and secondary check collection centers.

Cash provided by financing activities was approximately \$298,000 for fiscal year 2003 as compared to cash used in financing of approximately \$303,000 for fiscal year 2002. The increase in cash provided by financing activities is primarily due to the increase in proceeds from exercise of options of our common stock in fiscal year 2003 as compared to fiscal year 2002.

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalent balances, and potential cash flows from operations should satisfy our working capital and capital expenditure requirements in the foreseeable future. However, any material acquisitions of complementary businesses, products or technologies, other arrangements, unexpected losses, or a further economic slowdown in the retail industry could require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing. There can be no assurance that such financing would be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the following accounting policies involve a higher degree of complexity and warrant specific description.

Revenue Recognition

Transaction processing and service fees are recognized in the period these services are performed. These services consist of processing our clients' electronic check authorization and conversion transactions. These fees are charged on a per transactions basis and depend upon the contractual agreement with the client.

Check recovery fees are recognized in the period when cash is received for the services performed. These services typically consist of recovering the face amount of the original transaction and a service or collection fee. We are typically paid the service fee only when we are successful in the recovery of the face amount of the original transaction on behalf of our client.

In cases where our clients are of sufficient size and possess the technical capability to process transactions on their own, we license certain elements of our modules of our electronic payment processing software. We are typically paid either a fixed license fee which is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition" or in some cases a fee per transaction processed by the client whereupon revenue is recognized at the time the transactions are processed, provided the fee is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.

License fees regarding the licensing of the technology embodied within our five U.S. patents regarding electronic check processing are recognized in the period earned. In some instances, our licensees have paid an up-front fee to obtain a license, and in such cases the up-front fee is treated as deferred revenue and is recognized over the life of the agreement. Running royalties earned from electronic check transactions processed by the licensee are recognized on a monthly basis.

We receive fixed maintenance fees from residents who live at our Wildwood Estates property in return for the maintenance of common areas and associated services. We recognize maintenance fees over the service period.

24

Valuation of Other Long-Lived Assets

We regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the carrying amounts of our other long-lived assets, primarily our patents and our transactions processing software, equipment and other intangible assets, may warrant revision or may not be recoverable. When there are indications that such assets should be evaluated for possible impairment, we perform an impairment test in accordance with SFAS No. 144: "Accounting

for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". In the opinion of management, our long-lived assets are appropriately valued as of March 31, 2003 and 2002.

Stock Based Compensation

We issue stock options to our employees and directors under the terms of our 1996 Stock Option Plan and our 1998 Stock Incentive Plan. Canadian generally accepted accounting principles provide two alternative methods of accounting for stock options under the terms and conditions we typically issue such options. One alternative is to estimate the fair value of the stock option on the date of grant and recognize that value as an expense to operations over the option's vesting period. The other option currently available to our Corporation is to estimate the fair value of the option on the date of grant but only reflect the impact in a pro-forma disclosure setting forth compensation expense as if the fair value method was used in the Corporation's financial statements and forego adjusting the consolidated statement of operations. The method a corporation chooses to apply is a matter of policy. Consistent with our past practices, we utilize the second of these options and reflect the impact of the compensation expense in a pro-forma disclosure to our financial statements. As illustrated in Note 4(b) to the financial statements, were we to change our accounting policy on this matter to reflect the expense in our consolidated statement of operations, or should Canadian generally accepted accounting principles change to require us to reflect this expense in our consolidated statement of operations, our results would be materially and adversely affected.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements as such term is defined in Item 303 (a) (4) of Regulation S-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148 "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure" ("SFAS 148"), which amends SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock Based Compensation" ("SFAS 123") to provide alternative methods of transition to SFAS 123 fair value method of accounting for stock based compensation. SFAS 148 also amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 and APB opinion No. 28 "Interim Financial Reporting" to require disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of a corporation's accounting policy with respect to stock based employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in the annual and interim financial statements. We have implemented the required disclosures of SFAS 148 in the audited Consolidated Financial Statements (see Note 4 (b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8).

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146 "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities" ("SFAS 146"). This statement requires corporations to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. We do not believe that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our financial position or consolidated statement of operations.

25

In November, 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21 "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables" ("EITF Issue No. 00-21"). EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. We do not believe that the adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will have a material effect on our consolidated statement of operations.

Summary Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following summarizes our unaudited quarterly financial results for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 (in thousands, except share data):

Year Ended March 31, 2003

| | First | Second | Third | Fourth |
|-----------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter |
| Net revenue | 1,918 | 1,992 | 2,538 | 2,325 |
| Net loss | (1,031) | (770) | (545) | (702) |
| Basic net loss per common share | (.05) | (.04) | (.03) | (.04) |
| Diluted net loss per common share | (.05) | (.04) | (.03) | (.04) |

Year Ended March 31, 2002

| | First | Second | Third | Fourth |
|-----------------------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter |
| Net revenues | 2,435 | 2,267 | 2,180 | 2,386 |
| Net loss | (1,702) | (2,000) | (969) | (568) |
| Basic net loss per common share | (.09) | (.10) | (.05) | (.03) |
| Diluted net loss per common share | (.09) | (.10) | (.05) | (.03) |

26

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in marketable securities (which consist of money market and commercial paper). At March 31, 2003, our marketable securities were recorded at a fair value of approximately \$2.1 million, with an overall weighted average return of 1.4% and an overall weighted average life of less than three months. Our marketable securities have exposure to price risk, which is estimated as the potential loss in fair value due to a hypothetical change of 50 basis points (9% of our overall average return on marketable securities) in quoted market prices. This hypothetical change would have an immaterial effect on the recorded value of the marketable securities.

We are not exposed to material future earnings or cash flow fluctuations from changes in interest rates on long-term debt since 100% of our long-term debt is at a fixed rate as of March 31, 2003. The fair value of our debt approximates its carrying value. To date, we have not entered into any derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk and are currently not evaluating the future use of any such financial instruments.

We have immaterial exposure to foreign currency transaction gains or losses. To date, we have not entered into any derivative financial instrument to manage foreign currency risk and are currently not evaluating the future use of any such financial instruments.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Information called for by this item is set forth in our Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this report. Our Consolidated Financial Statements begin at page F-1.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Information concerning our change in accountants was disclosed in our current report on Form 8-K dated March 28, 2002 and filed on April 2, 2002.

27

PART III

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information on our directors and executive officers is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information on compensation of our directors and executive officers is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Security Matters

Information on the securities ownership of certain beneficial owners and our management is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference. Information required by Item 201 (d) of Regulation S-K is set forth under Item 5. "Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters".

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information on certain relationships and related transactions is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation, as of a date within ninety days of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective. There have been no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.

ITEM 15. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services is contained in our Proxy Statement for our 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and is incorporated herein by reference.

28

ITEM 16. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8K

- (a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
- (1) Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Chartered Accountants F-1

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2003 and 2002 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for each of the three years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K for the fourth quarter ending March 31, 2003:

We filed the following Current Reports on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission during the quarter ended March 31, 2003:

A current report on Form 8-K, dated February 14, 2003 was filed on February 21, 2003 (Items 5 and 7).

(c) Exhibits:

Exhibit

Number

Description of Document

- 3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2000 of LML (File No. 0-13959).
- 3.2 Bylaws of LML (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998 of LML (File No. 0-13959).
- 3.3 Amendment to Bylaws of LML (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2001, of LML (File No. 0-13959).

- 10.1* Form of employment agreement between Robert E. Peyton and Phoenix EPS Inc. made as of July 9, 2000 (File No. 0-13959).
- 21 Subsidiaries of LML (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended March 31, 2001 of LML (File No. 0-13959).
- 23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

29

- 23.2* Notice Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP
- 99.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
- 99.2* Certification of Controller and Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

30

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

By: /s/ Patrick H. Gaines

Patrick H. Gaines,

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President

Date: June 27, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated and on the dates indicated below.

| Signature | Title | Date |
|-----------------------|--|---------------|
| /s/ Patrick H. Gaines | Chairman of the Board, | June 27, 2003 |
| Patrick H. Gaines | Chief Executive Officer, President and Director | |
| | (Principal Executive Officer) | |
| /s/ Richard R. Schulz | Controller | June 27, 2003 |

^{*} filed herewith

| Richard R. Schulz | (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) | |
|------------------------|--|---------------|
| /s/ Gregory A. MacRae | Director | June 27, 2003 |
| Gregory A. MacRae | | |
| /s/ L. William Seidman | Director | June 27, 2003 |
| L. William Seidman | | |
| /s/ Jacqueline Pace | Director | June 27, 2003 |
| Jacqueline Pace | | |
| /s/ Robin B. Martin | Director | June 27, 2003 |
| Robin B. Martin | | |

31

OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick H. Gaines, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LML Payment Systems Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
 - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
 - b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and
 - c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 - a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have

identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

- b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and
- 6. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

June 27, 2003

/s/ Patrick H. Gaines

Patrick H. Gaines

President and CEO

32

OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Richard R. Schulz, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LML Payment Systems Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
 - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
 - b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and
 - c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the

equivalent function):

- a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
- b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls; and
- 6. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

June 27, 2003

/s/ Richard R. Schulz

Richard R. Schulz

Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

33

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-11404 and No. 333-49402) pertaining to the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan and the 1996 Stock Option Plan of LML Payment Systems Inc. of our report dated June 17, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended March 31, 2003, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

June 27, 2003

34

EXHIBIT 23.2

NOTICE REGARDING CONSENT OF ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Section 11(a) of the Securities Act provides that if part of a registration statement at the time it becomes effective contains an untrue statement of a material fact, or omits a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, any person acquiring a security pursuant to such registration statement (unless it is proved that at the time of such acquisition such person knew of such untruth or omission) may assert a

claim against, among others, an accountant who has consented to be named as having certified any part of the registration statement or as having prepared any report for use in connection with the registration statement.

On March 28, 2002, we received and accepted Arthur Andersen LLP's resignation as our independent auditors. Prior to the date of this Form 10-K, the Arthur Andersen LLP partner responsible for the audit of our financial statements as of March 31, 2001 and for the year then ended resigned from Arthur Andersen LLP. As a result, after reasonable efforts, we have been unable to obtain Arthur Andersen LLP's written consent to the incorporation by reference into our registration statements on Form S-8 No. 333-11404 and No. 333-49402 of Arthur Andersen LLP's audit report with respect to our financial statements as of March 31, 2001 and for the year then ended. Under these circumstances, Rule 437a under the Securities Act permits us to file this Form 10-K, which is incorporated by reference into our registration statement on Form S-8 No. 333-11404 and No. 333-49402 and deemed to be a new registration statement, without a written consent from Arthur Andersen LLP. However, as a result, Arthur Andersen LLP will not have any liability under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act for any untrue statements of a material fact contained in the financial statements audited by Arthur Andersen LLP or any omissions of a material fact required to be stated therein. Accordingly, you would be unable to assert a claim against Arthur Andersen under Section 11(a) of the Securities Act.

35

Exhibit 99.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

In connection with the Annual Report of LML Payment Systems Inc. (the "Corporation") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Patrick H. Gaines, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Corporation.

/s/ Patrick H. Gaines

Patrick H. Gaines

Chief Executive Officer

June 27, 2003

36

Exhibit 99.2

Edgar Filing: LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-K CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

In connection with the Annual Report of LML Payment Systems Inc. (the "Corporation") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Richard R. Schulz, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the Corporation, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Corporation.

/s/ Richard R. Schulz

Richard R. Schulz

Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

June 27, 2003

F-1

AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of

LML Payment Systems Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of LML Payment Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian and U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of LML Payment Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

The financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended March 31, 2001 were audited by other independent auditors who have ceased operations and whose report dated June 27, 2001 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Vancouver, B.C.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

June 17, 2003

F-2

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In U.S. Dollars)

March 31

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|--|------------|------------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| ASSETS | | |
| CURRENT ASSETS | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | 3,483,690 | 4,582,304 |
| Restricted cash (Note 3) | 300,000 | 250,000 |
| Accounts receivable, less allowances of \$60,815 and \$55,881, respectively (Note 3) | 583,969 | 333,947 |
| Prepaid expenses | 540,303 | 593,614 |
| Total current assets | 4,907,962 | 5,759,865 |
| REAL PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE (Note 5) | 1,580,020 | 1,582,432 |
| CAPITAL ASSETS (Notes 6 and 8) | 3,291,517 | 5,129,598 |
| PATENTS (Note 7) | 1,454,270 | 1,588,245 |
| GOODWILL (Note 4 (a)) | - | 6,433,586 |
| OTHER ASSETS | 319,514 | 425,012 |
| Total assets | 11,553,283 | 20,918,738 |
| LIABILITIES | | |
| CURRENT LIABILITIES | | |
| Accounts payable | 504,869 | 1,094,855 |
| Accrued liabilities | 723,493 | 586,972 |
| Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) | 90,016 | 270,407 |
| Current portion of deferred revenue | 28,037 | - |
| Total current liabilities | 1,346,415 | 1,952,234 |
| LONG TERM DEBT (Note 8) | - | 88,717 |

| DEFERRED REVENUE | | 243,927 | - |
|---|----------------------|--------------|--------------|
| Total liabilities | | 1,590,342 | 2,040,951 |
| COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 15) | | | |
| SHAREHOLDERS | S' EQUITY | | |
| CAPITAL STOCK (Note 9) | | | |
| Class A, preferred stock, \$1.00 CDN par value, 150 shares authorized, issuable in series, none issued or out | | | |
| Class B, preferred stock, \$1.00 CDN par value, 150 shares authorized, issuable in series, none issued or out | | | |
| Common shares, no par value, 100,000,000 shares at 19,593,061 and 19,447,561 issued and outsirespectively | | 30,350,561 | 29,783,736 |
| DEFICIT | | (20,387,620) | (10,905,949) |
| | | 9,962,941 | 18,877,787 |
| Total share equity | holders' | | |
| | | 11,553,283 | 20,918,738 |
| | Total | | |
| | liabilities a n d | | |
| | shacholdes | | |
| | equity | | |
| | | | |

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

F-3

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In U.S. Dollars, except share data)

Years ended March 31,

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
|--|-----------|-----------|------------|
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| REVENUE | 8,773,496 | 9,268,154 | 10,071,358 |
| COSTS AND EXPENSES | | | |
| Cost of operations | 6,908,954 | 8,132,566 | 7,950,620 |
| Sales, general and administrative expenses | 2,520,126 | 3,314,747 | 3,993,653 |
| Amortization and depreciation (Note 4a) | 2,390,323 | 3,246,795 | 3,085,146 |
| Other expenses (income) | 35,785 | (72,357) | 768,770 |

| LOSS FROM OPERATIONS | (3,081,692) | (5,353,597) | (5,726,831) |
|---|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Interest income, net | 53,202 | 131,978 | 571,020 |
| LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES | (3,028,490) | (5,221,619) | (5,155,811) |
| Income taxes | 19,595 | 16,848 | 57,884 |
| NET LOSS | (3,048,085) | (5,238,467) | (5,213,695) |
| DIVIDENDS, PREFERRED | - | - | (453,787) |
| NET LOSS AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS | (3,048,085) | (5,238,467) | (5,667,482) |
| LOSS PER SHARE | | | |
| Basic and diluted | (0.16) | (0.27) | (0.34) |
| WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING | 19,495,334 | 19,248,970 | 16,769,410 |

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

F-4

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In U.S. Dollars)

| | Common | Preferred | Amount \$ | Deficit \$ | Total \$ |
|--|------------|-----------|--------------|--------------|------------|
| Balance as at March 31, 2000 | 14,956,487 | 883,283 | 44,047,550 | (22,901,744) | 21,145,806 |
| Exercise of stock options | 283,500 | | 4,141,750 | | 4,141,750 |
| | 251,574 | | 4,907,500 | | 4,907,500 |
| Issuance of common stock - acquisition | | | | | |
| Return of common stock - associated with settlement (Note 15(a)) | (466,820) | | (466,820) | | (466,820) |
| Shares issued for conversion of subsidiary preferred stock to common (Note 9(b)) | 3,533,132 | (883,283) | - | | - |
| Issuance of common stock - previous acquisition, price protection (Note 9(d)) | 140,056 | | - | | |
| Deficit adjustment (Note 9(a)) | | | (22,901,744) | 22,901,744 | - |

| Preferred dividends paid | | | | (453,787) | (453,787) |
|---|------------|----------------------|------------|-------------------|-------------|
| Net loss | | | | (5,213,695) | (5,213,695) |
| Balance as at March 31, 2001 | 18,697,929 | - | 29,728,236 | (5,667,482) | 24,060,754 |
| Exercise of stock options | 43,500 | | 55,500 | | 55,500 |
| Issuance of common stock - previous acquisition, price protection (Note 9(d)) | 706,132 | | - | | - |
| Net loss | | | | (5,238,467) | (5,238,467) |
| Balance as at March 31, 2002 | 19,447,561 | - | 29,783,736 | (10,905,949) | 18,877,787 |
| Exercise of stock options | 145,500 | | 566,825 | | 566,825 |
| Net loss | | | | (3,048,085) | (3,048,085) |
| Change in accounting policy (Note 4(a)) | | | | (6,433,586) | (6,433,586) |
| Balance as at March 31, 2003 See accompanying | 19,593,061 | - onsolidated fin | | (20,387,620) ents | 9,962,941 |
| 1 2 | C | | | | |

F-5

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In U.S. Dollars)

Years ended March 31,

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
|--|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| OPERATING ACTIVITIES: | | | |
| Net loss | (3,048,085) | (5,238,467) | (5,213,695) |
| Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities | | | |
| Provisions for losses on accounts receivable | 17,933 | 55,477 | 82,635 |
| Amortization and depreciation | 2,390,323 | 3,246,795 | 3,085,146 |
| Write-down of assets | - | (104,557) | - |
| Other | - | 12,337 | 22,837 |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities (excluding effect of acquisitions) | | | |
| Restricted cash | (50,000) | - | (250,000) |
| Accounts receivable | (267,954) | 159,709 | (231,935) |
| Prepaid expenses | 53,311 | (84,589) | 78,779 |

| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (453,465) | (919,771) | 1,209,007 |
|--|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Other assets | 28,136 | 15,307 | (71,500) |
| Deferred revenue | 271,964 | - | - |
| Net cash used in operating activities | (1,057,837) | (2,857,759) | (1,288,726) |
| INVESTING ACTIVITIES | | | |
| Purchase of Phoenix, net of cash acquired | _ | _ | (126,205) |
| Purchase of Check Technologies, net of cash acquired | (50,000) | (51,750) | (518,505) |
| Additional ChequeMARK & Patent consideration | (30,000) | (31,730) | (2,664,464) |
| Real property improvements | _ | _ | (272,846) |
| Capital asset expenditures | (277,333) | (543,315) | (657,783) |
| Patents | (11,161) | | (27,384) |
| | | (18,818) | |
| Net cash used in investing activities | (338,494) | (613,883) | (4,267,187) |
| FINANCING ACTIVITIES | | | |
| Payments on long term debt | - | - | (1,121,280) |
| Payments on capital leases | (269,108) | (358,908) | (182,266) |
| Payment of dividends on preferred shares | - | - | (453,787) |
| Proceeds from exercise of stock options | 566,825 | 55,500 | 4,141,750 |
| Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities | 297,717 | (303,408) | 2,384,417 |
| DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS | (1,098,614) | (3,775,050) | (3,171,496) |
| Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year | 4,582,304 | 8,357,354 | 11,528,850 |
| Cash and cash equivalents, end of year | 3,483,690 | 4,582,304 | 8,357,354 |
| Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: | | | |
| Interest paid | 22,903 | 20,469 | 153,871 |
| Taxes paid | 19,595 | 15,622 | 18,121 |

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

F-6

LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are U.S. dollars)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

LML Payment Systems Inc. (a Yukon Territory corporation) and its subsidiaries (the "Corporation"), see Note 2(a), is a financial payment processor providing check processing solutions including electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion (ECC) and primary and secondary check collection including electronic check re-presentment (RCK) to national, regional and local retailers in the U.S. The Corporation also provides selective routing of debit, credit and electronic benefit transaction (EBT) transactions to third party processors and banks in the U.S. for authorization and settlement.

The Corporation's intellectual property estate, owned by subsidiary LML Patent Corp., includes U.S. Patent No. 6,547,129, No. 6,354,491, No. 6,283,366, No. 6,164,528 and No. 5,484,988, which describe electronic check processing methods (see Note 16).

Through its subsidiary LHTW Properties Inc., ("LHTW") the Corporation owned and operated Wildwood Estates, a 332-acre residential community in Wildwood, Florida. Operations included the sale of manufactured homes and lots. In exchange for monthly maintenance fees, the Corporation provided the resident community with certain amenities and services commonly associated with similar developments. Subsequent to the year end, the Corporation, through its subsidiary LHTW Properties Inc., sold its real property located in Wildwood Florida. Gross proceeds from the sale total approximately \$2,400,000 cash (see Notes 5 and 16).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Except as disclosed in Note 17, these principles do not differ materially from United States generally accepted accounting principles.

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries as set out below. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

CANADA

Legacy Promotions Inc.

UNITED STATES

LHTW Properties Inc.

LML Corp.

LML Patent Corp.

LML Payment Systems Corp. *

* On April 1, 2001, the Corporation consolidated seven subsidiaries; CFDC Holdings Corp., CF Data Corp., Check Technologies Inc., National Recovery Systems, Ltd. of America, National Process Servers Inc., and Phoenix, EPS Inc. into a single operating subsidiary, LML Payment Systems Corp. (formerly known as *Cheque*MARK, Inc.).

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to, among others, the allowance for doubtful accounts, determination of impairment of assets, useful lives for depreciation and amortization and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

F-7

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less.

(d) Real Property

Real property is valued at the lower of cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Real property consists of land held for resale, common area land and a building. The common area building is amortized using the straight-line method over 25 years.

(e) Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. A straight-line method is used to depreciate the life of assets as follows:

Computer equipment K - 5 years

Computer software K - 5 years

Furniture and fixtures K years

Leasehold improvements Lesser of the life of the lease or the useful life of the leasehold improvement

Office equipment M years

Vehicles L years

Website & trademarks M years

System and software M years

(f) Patents and Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite lives ("intangible assets subject to amortization") are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives. Patent costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining life of the patents since acquisition in 1998, which approximated 15 years at that time.

(g) Goodwill

Goodwill represented the excess of the purchase price of an acquired enterprise over the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. For goodwill recognized prior to April 1, 2002, amortization was calculated using the straight-line method over 10 years. Effective April 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization but is subject to an annual review for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment has occurred.

(h) Long-lived Assets

Capital assets, real property, goodwill, patents and other intangibles are reviewed for impairment when events indicate their carrying amount may not be recoverable from undiscounted cash flows estimated to be earned from future operations. An impairment charge, if any, is recorded in the statement of operations based on the difference in the asset's book value and the estimated recoverable amount.

(i) Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists primarily of transaction charges from the Corporation's primary and secondary check collection business including electronic check re-presentment, electronic check authorization and electronic check conversion business, software license sales and maintenance fees. Revenue is recognized in accordance with CICA handbook section 3400 and with the corresponding US guidance, SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 101, "Revenue Recognition."

Revenue from the Corporation's electronic check authorization and electronic check conversion business is recognized at the time the transactions are processed by the merchant, provided the fee is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. Fees associated with the Corporation's primary and secondary check collection business, including electronic check re-presentment, are contingent on successful recovery; accordingly, revenue is recognized as cash is received.

In accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," the Corporation recognizes software license revenue when all of the following criteria are met: execution of a written agreement; delivery of software; the license fee is fixed and determinable; collectibility of the proceeds is probable; and vendor-specific objective evidence exists to allocate the total fee to elements of multiple-element arrangements, including post contract customer support. Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on the price charged when an element is sold separately, or if not yet sold separately, the price established by authorized management or a substantive renewal rate for post-contract customer support. If the Corporation does not have sufficient evidence of the fair value of undelivered elements, revenue is recognized ratably over the support period when the undelivered element is post-contract customer support. Any cash consideration received prior to meeting revenue recognition criteria is recorded as deferred revenue.

F-8

Maintenance fees from the management of the property and from the maintenance of the common areas are recognized straight line over the service period.

(i) Income Taxes

The liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and measured using the substantially enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

(k) Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per common share is calculated based on net loss, less preferred stock dividends divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share includes the dilutive effect of stock options and warrants granted using the treasury stock method.

(1) Stock Based Compensation Plans

The Corporation has two stock-based compensation plans, which are described in Note 10. The Corporation has adopted the new CICA handbook section 3062 which corresponds with the Financial Accounting Standard Board's ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") 123. Under this new standard stock-based compensation arrangements are accounted for under a fair value based method except there is an alternative available for options granted to employees and directors. Accordingly, applying the new standard did not represent a compensation expense for the Corporation. Rather, the Corporation provides pro-forma disclosures setting forth compensation expense as if the fair value method was used. Any consideration paid by employees and directors on exercise of stock options or purchase of stock is credited to share capital.

(m) Foreign Exchange

The functional currency of the Corporation is the US dollar. The Corporation follows the temporal method of accounting for the translation of foreign currency amounts into US dollars. Under this method monetary assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the historical transaction date. Revenue and expense are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Exchange gains or losses, which have been immaterial for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 are reflected in the results of operations.

(n) Financial Instruments

The Corporation's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term debt, the fair values of which approximates their carrying values. From time to time the Corporation purchases short-term investments including commercial paper. The principal objective of the Corporation's investment activities is to provide maximum levels of interest income while maintaining acceptable levels of interest rate and liquidity risk and facilitating the funding needs of the Corporation.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Restricted Cash

Under the terms of the processing agreement with one of the Corporation's processing banks, the Corporation has pledged a deposit of \$250,000 (2002-\$250,000) against charge back losses. The Corporation has also established an irrevocable standby letter of credit in favor of Citicorp Diners Club Inc. of \$50,000 (2002-\$0) under the terms of the corporate credit card agreement. In addition, restricted cash of \$208,561 (2002-\$222,936) relating to the IBM financing is long term in nature and is included in "Other Assets."

(b) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Corporation to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Corporation places its cash with financial institutions. However, at times during the year ended March 31, 2003 certain balances exceeded the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation limits of \$60,000 CDN and the United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits of \$100,000.

During the year ended March 31, 2003, revenue from the Corporation's three (3) largest customers amounted to approximately 22%, 13% and 11% of total revenue (2002-22%, 20% and 15%). The amount of actual revenue from these customers amounted to approximately \$1,955,958, \$1,159,513 and \$973,930 (2002-\$2,029,723, \$1,846,262 and \$1,363,614), respectively. The Corporation may be economically

dependent on revenue from these customers. This revenue is

F-9

attributable to the Financial Payment Processing Operating segment. During the year ended March 31, 2003, one of the Corporation's largest customers that amounted to approximately 20% of total revenue in the year ended 2002, sought bids from the Corporation and other service providers to provide both a new service, being centralized returns, and electronic check recovery service, one of the services provided by the Corporation to this customer. The Corporation was ultimately unsuccessful in it's bid for these services and by the conclusion of the Corporation's third quarter of fiscal 2003 no longer provided these services to this customer. The Corporation is continuing to provide primary collections and other services to this customer.

4. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Goodwill

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants' ("CICA") handbook section 3062, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("CICA 3062") and the Financial Accounting Standards Board's ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142") became effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2002. CICA 3062 and SFAS 142 changed the accounting for goodwill from an amortization method to an impairment-only approach. Thus, the Corporation's amortization of goodwill, including goodwill recorded in past business combinations, and amortization of intangibles with an indefinite life, ceased upon adoption of CICA 3062 and SFAS 142. For any corporate acquisitions completed since June 30, 2001, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortized. The Corporation has not completed any corporate acquisitions since June 30, 2001.

The Corporation has adopted the provisions of CICA 3062 and SFAS 142 effective April 1, 2002 which required the Corporation to perform the first of the CICA 3062 and SFAS 142 impairment tests before the end of the second quarter of 2003. Under CICA 3062 and SFAS 142, goodwill impairment is deemed to exist if the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. This methodology differs from the Corporation's previous policy, as permitted under accounting standards existing at that time, of evaluating impairment of goodwill by comparing book value versus market value of the Corporation at an enterprise level. During the second quarter of 2003, the Corporation completed its first fair value based impairment tests and recorded a one-time, non-cash charge of approximately \$6.4 million to write-off the carrying value of its goodwill. Such charge is non-operational in nature and is recognized as the effect of a change in accounting policy and recorded as an adjustment to the opening deficit balance as of the beginning of the current fiscal year under CICA 3062.

The following table presents the impact on net loss from operations for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 of the CICA 3062 requirement to cease the amortization of goodwill as if the standard had been in effect beginning April 1, 2000:

| | 2003 \$ | 2002 \$ | 2001 \$ |
|----------------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Net loss - reported Adjustments: | (3,048,085) | (5,238,467) | (5,213,695) |
| Amortization of goodwill | - | 827,828 | 801,390 |
| Net loss - adjusted | (3,048,085) | (4,410,639) | (4,412,305) |

| Net loss per share - reported | (0.16) | (0.27) | (0.34) |
|--------------------------------|--------|--------|--------|
| Adjustments: | | | |
| Amortization of goodwill | - | 0.04 | 0.05 |
| Net loss per share - adjusted | (0.16) | (0.23) | (0.29) |
| rvet loss per share - adjusted | (0.10) | (0.23) | (0.2) |
| | F-10 | | |

b) Stock-based compensation

Effective April 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted the new CICA Handbook Section 3870 "Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments". Under this new standard, stock-based compensation arrangements are accounted for under a fair value based method except there is an alternative available for options granted to employees and directors. Accordingly, applying the new standard did not represent a compensation expense for the Corporation. Rather, the Corporation provides pro-forma disclosures setting forth compensation expense as if the fair value method was used. The weighted average fair value of options granted in fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was \$3.63, \$4.25 and \$11.12 per option.

| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
|--|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Compensation expense | 4,798,297 | 4,264,741 | 3,843,065 |
| Net loss available to common shareholders: | | | |
| As reported | (3,048,085) | (5,238,466) | (5,667,482) |
| Pro forma | (7,846,382) | (9,503,207) | (9,510,547) |
| Basic and diluted loss per common share: | | | |
| As reported | (0.16) | (0.27) | (0.34) |
| Pro forma | (0.40) | (0.49) | (0.57) |

Fair value of options granted are estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Risk free interest rate of 4% for 2003 and 6% for 2002 and 2001;

Expected volatility of 104% for 2003, 60% for 2002 and 90% for 2001;

Expected life of the options of 4 years for 2003 and 5 years for 2002 and 2001;

No dividend yields.

5. REAL PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE

| 2003 | 2002 |
|------|------|

| | \$ | \$ |
|--------------------------------|-----------|-----------|
| Land held for resale | 584,672 | 584,672 |
| Common area land | 803,554 | 803,554 |
| Common area building | 227,125 | 220,688 |
| Total cost | 1,615,351 | 1,608,914 |
| Less: accumulated depreciation | 35,331 | 26,482 |
| Net book value | 1,580,020 | 1,582,432 |

Depreciation expense of real property totaled \$8,849 in 2003, \$9,344 in 2002 and \$33,820 in 2001.

The Corporation has determined that as at March 31, 2003, a sale of the entire property is probable and is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year (see Note 16). Consequently, the real property has now been classified as real property held for sale. The real property held for sale is reported under the Residential Real Estate Operations segment (see Note 14). Operating losses for this segment for the years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were \$84,624, \$56,794 and \$373,029 respectively.

F-11

6. CAPITAL ASSETS

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|---|------------|------------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Computer equipment | 1,394,393 | 1,229,288 |
| Computer software | 949,383 | 879,448 |
| Furniture and fixtures | 288,678 | 286,851 |
| Leasehold improvements | 192,876 | 191,550 |
| Office equipment | 609,224 | 588,396 |
| Vehicles | 104,437 | 104,437 |
| Website & trademarks | 23,816 | 23,816 |
| System & software | 6,764,029 | 6,753,122 |
| Total cost | 10,326,836 | 10,056,908 |
| Less: accumulated amortization and depreciation | 7,035,319 | 4,927,310 |
| Net book value | 3,291,517 | 5,129,598 |

Depreciation expense on capital assets totaled \$2,108,009 in 2003, \$2,191,155 in 2002 and \$2,104,634 in 2001. Capital assets include \$675,711 and \$724,737 of assets that are financed under various capital leases for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Accumulated amortization on these assets totals \$612,739 and \$398,933 for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Amortization of capital lease assets is included in depreciation expense.

7. PATENTS

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|------|-----------|-----------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Cost | 1,933,830 | 1,922,563 |

Less: accumulated amortization 479,560 334,318

Net book value 1,454,270 1,588,245

Amortization expense totaled \$145,241 in 2003, \$141,153 in 2002 and \$106,028 in 2001.

8. LONG TERM DEBT

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|---|--------|---------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Obligations under capital lease agreement | 90,016 | 359,124 |
| Less current portion | 90,016 | 270,407 |
| | - | 88,717 |

In September 2000, the Corporation entered into a lease agreement with IBM Credit Corporation to finance an equipment purchase of \$377,835 and maintenance services of \$87,326. Lease payments are due on the last day of each month under the lease terms of thirty-six (36) months. At the Corporation's option, title to the equipment could transfer to the Corporation at the expiration of the lease. Accordingly these amounts have been recorded as a capital lease.

| Future minimum payments due | \$ |
|--|--------|
| 2004 | 92,718 |
| Less amount representing interest (6%) | 2,702 |
| Net principal balance | 90,016 |
| | |

The lease is collateralized by the equipment under capital lease.

F-12

9. CAPITAL STOCK

- (a) At the Corporation's Annual General Meeting held September 18, 2000, the Corporation's shareholders approved a reduction in the stated capital of the shares of the Corporation's common stock by \$22,901,744 and to effect such reduction by reducing the amount of the Corporation's deficit by the same amount.
- (b) In December 1995, the Corporation, LHTW Properties, Inc. and Destiny Petroleum, Inc. ("Destiny") entered into a debt conversion agreement (the "Conversion Agreement"). On November 30, 2000, the Corporation, pursuant to the Conversion Agreement (as amended), issued 3,533,132 shares of the Corporation's common stock to Destiny in exchange for the surrender of 883,283 LHTW Class A Preference Shares. Prior to the exchange, dividends and interest on the LHTW Class A Preference Shares had accrued in an amount totaling \$453,787. In January 2001, the Corporation paid this amount to Destiny in full satisfaction of any and all remaining monetary obligations related to the LHTW Class A Preference Shares.

(c) Warrants

At the year end March 31, 2003, 1,200,000 warrants expired and, therefore, no warrants were outstanding at the year-end.

(d) On January 26, 2001, the Corporation issued 140,056 shares of common stock to the former shareholders of CFDC Holdings Corp. under the price protection covenants. On June 27, 2001, the Corporation issued 679,134 shares

of common stock to the former shareholders of Phoenix EPS Inc. under the price protection covenants. On December 13, 2001, the Corporation issued 26,998 shares of common stock to the former shareholders of Check Technologies Inc. under the price protection covenants.

(e) Loss Per Common Share

As a result of the net losses incurred for 2003, 2002 and 2001, the effect of dilutive securities would have been anti-dilutive to the diluted loss per common share computations and were thus excluded. Dilutive securities that would have otherwise been included in the determination of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the purposes of computing diluted earnings per common share included 1,941,000 for 2003, 781,000 for 2002 and 1,243,500 for 2001, issuable under stock options, warrants and convertible share securities.

10. COMMON STOCK OPTIONS

The Corporation maintains two stock option plans; the 1996 Stock Option Plan (the "1996 Plan") and the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1998 Plan"). The number of shares that may be granted under the 1996 Plan is a total of 3 million shares and the number of shares that may be granted under the 1998 Plan is a total of 3 million shares. All director, officer and employee options are granted under the Corporation's 1996 Plan or the 1998 Plan with the exception of 80,000 shares of options granted to a former consultant, vesting over a one year period, which were not granted under the 1996 Plan or the 1998 Plan. The exercise price of options granted under the 1996 Plan and the 1998 Plan is 100% of the fair market value on the date the option is granted. Options to directors, officers and employees are normally vested over a three-year period. Options are typically exercisable for a period of five years from date of grant. Options previously granted will be forfeited upon leaving the employ of the Corporation.

The Corporation has adopted the new CICA handbook section 3062 which corresponds with the Financial Accounting Standard Board's ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") 123. Under this new standard stock-based compensation arrangements are accounted for under a fair value based method except there is an alternative available for options granted to employees and directors. Accordingly, applying the new standard did not represent a compensation expense for the Corporation. Rather, the Corporation provides pro-forma disclosures setting forth compensation expense as if the fair value method was used.

At March 31, 2003 there are options outstanding and exercisable to issue 2,095,000 shares of the Corporation (2002 - 1,385,000). The price of these options ranges from \$3.00 to \$20.375 and their expiry dates range from November 2, 2003 to September 4, 2007. At March 31, 2003, 2,482,500 common shares were reserved for issuance pursuant to the 1996 Plan and 1998 Plan.

The following table summarizes information about the share options outstanding:

| F-I | 3 |
|-----|---|
|-----|---|

| Range | Total # | Weighted average | Weighted average |
|-----------|-----------|------------------|------------------|
| \$ | of Shares | exercise price | contract life |
| | | | remaining |
| 3.00-3.50 | 215,500 | 3.07 | 1.15 |
| 4.00-4.95 | 417,500 | 4.37 | 2.36 |
| 5.00-5.90 | 908,000 | 10.96 | 9.55 |

Edgar Filing: LML PAYMENT SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-K

| 7.00-10.00 | 424,000 | 7.36 | 2.24 |
|------------|-----------|-------|------|
| 20.375 | 130,000 | 20.38 | 2.28 |
| | 2.095,000 | 6.13 | 3.08 |

Option activity for the three preceding years is as follows:

| | 200 | 3 | 200 | 2 | 2001 | |
|--|------------------|---|-----------------|---|-----------|---|
| | Shares # | Weighted average exercise price \$ | Shares # | Weighted average exercise price \$ | | Veighted average exercise price \$ |
| Options outstanding, beginning of year | 1,385,000 | 6.45 | 1,373,500 | 6.95 | 1,090,000 | 5.13 |
| Granted | 1,023,000 | 5.04 | 199,000 | 4.88 | 645,000 | 13.12 |
| Forfeited | (167,500) | 4.10 | (144,000) | 8.88 | (78,000) | 4.67 |
| Exercised | (145,500) | 3.90 | (43,500) | 1.28 | (283,500) | 14.61 |
| Options outstanding, end of year | 2,095,000 | 6.13 | 1,385,000 | 6.45 | 1,373,500 | 6.95 |
| 11. NON-CASH INVE | STING AND | FINANCING | ACTIVITIES | S | | |
| | | | | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
| | | | | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Acquisition of o | capital assets u | ınder capital le | ease | - | 167,526 | 632,687 |
| Issuance of 251 | ,574 shares of | common stoc | k - acquisition | ns - | - | 4,907,500 |
| Return to treasu | ıry 466,820 sh | ares of comm | on stock | - | - | (466,820) |
| | | | | - | 167,526 | 5,073,367 |

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Corporation has a defined contribution 401 (k) plan (the "Plan") for eligible employees. The Plan requires that the Corporation match 50% of eligible employees contributions, up to 6% of their compensation. The Corporation recorded matching contribution expenses for the years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 of \$37,096, \$55,455 and \$81,698 respectively.

13. INCOME TAXES

At March 31, 2003, the Corporation has Canadian non-capital loss carry-forwards for income tax purposes of approximately \$7,682,000 and U.S. federal net operating loss carry-forwards of \$12,498,000. Due to Canadian and US tax "change of ownership" rules, the loss carry-forwards are restricted in their use. None of these tax benefits have been recognized in the financial statements and expire as follows:

| 2004 | 483,000 |
|-----------|------------|
| 2005 | 388,000 |
| 2006 | 275,000 |
| 2007 | 3,773,000 |
| 2008 | 254,000 |
| 2009-2023 | 15,007,000 |

F-14

Future income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liability for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Corporation's future tax assets as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|---|-------------|-------------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Future tax assets: | | |
| Conital cost allowers in angest of healt demonistics | 92,000 | 78,000 |
| Capital cost allowance in excess of book depreciation | 262.000 | (60,000) |
| Book amortization in excess of cumulative eligible capital deductions | 263,000 | (60,000) |
| | - | (1,207,000) |
| Book amortization in excess of Goodwill deductions for tax | | |
| | 3,332,000 | 2,998,000 |
| Canadian non-capital loss carry-forwards | | |
| | 4,702,000 | 5,467,000 |
| US federal net operating loss carry-forwards | | |
| Total future tax assets | 8,389,000 | 7,276,000 |
| Valuation allowance for future tax assets | (8,389,000) | (7,276,000) |
| Net future tax assets | - | - |

The potential income tax benefits related to these future tax assets have not been recognized in the accounts as their realization did not meet the requirements of "more likely than not" under the liability method of tax allocation. Accordingly, no future tax assets have been recognized in the financial statements as at March 31, 2003.

The reconciliation of income tax attributable to operations computed at the statutory tax rates to income tax expense (recovery), using a 43.37% statutory tax rate, at March 31, 2003 and 2002 is:

| | 2003 | 2002 |
|--|-------------|-------------|
| | \$ | \$ |
| Income taxes at statutory rates | (1,322,000) | (2,272,000) |
| Amortization of goodwill in excess of allowable deductions for tax | - | 189,000 |

| Amortization in excess of capital cost allowance for tax | 14,000 | 4,000 |
|--|---------|-----------|
| Effect of US tax rates | 153,000 | 331,000 |
| Canadian non-capital losses not used | 515,000 | 553,000 |
| Non-capital losses not used | 640,000 | 1,195,000 |

- -

14. INDUSTRY AND GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

Financial Payment Processing Operations

| | U.S. | | |
|--|----------------|----------------------|-------------|
| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Revenue (excluding intercompany sales) | 8,559,093 | 9,073,346 | 9,880,123 |
| Revenue major customers (Note 3 (b)) | 4,089,401 | 5,239,599 | 5,480,127 |
| Segment operating loss | (1,744,511) | (3,897,164) | (3,211,283) |
| Total assets | 7,063,646 | 14,683,910 | 18,222,594 |
| | F-15 | | |
| | Residential Re | al Estate Operations | |
| | U.S. | | |
| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Revenue (excluding intercompany sales) | 213,403 | 187,308 | 191,235 |
| Segment operating loss | (84,624) | (56,794) | (373,029) |
| Total assets | 1,641,362 | 1,637,660 | 1,643,506 |
| | | | |

Corporate

| | | • | |
|--|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | Canada | | |
| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Revenue (excluding intercompany sales) | 1,000 | 7,500 | - |
| Segment operating loss | (1,218,950) | (1,284,509) | (1,629,383) |
| Total assets | 2,848,275 | 4,597,168 | 7,444,411 |
| | | | |

The Corporation employs a large amount of financial and managerial resources relating to its Financial Payment Processing Operations. The Financial Payment Processing Operations involve electronic check authorization, electronic check conversion (ECC) and primary and secondary check collection including electronic check re-presentment (RCK). Corporate is the corporate administration of the Corporation's headquarters. Residential Real Estate Operations involve the development and sale of residential real estate lots and homes in the United States. There were no inter-segment sales.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

- (a) Effective August 22, 2000, the Corporation, Mr. Hills and MARK Technologies, Inc. ("MARK") reached a settlement with respect to the Corporation's legal action commenced March 10, 1999 and other claims against Mr. Hills and MARK. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement in exchange for relief of its obligation to issue to the defendants 1,828,560 earn-out shares pursuant to certain agreements, 466,820 shares of the Corporation's common stock with a value of \$466,820 held in escrow were canceled and returned to the Corporation in the year ended March 31, 2001. The settlement does not affect the rights to earn-out shares of shareholders of Mark Technologies, Inc., other than Mr. Hills (See Note 15 (b).
- (b) Pursuant to certain agreements dated March 11, 1998 regarding the Corporation's acquisition of the assets of ChequeMARK Technologies Corp. (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") and U.S. Patent No. 5,484,988 or any continuations, divisions, reissues or additional patent applications for all or any part thereof (the "Patent Purchase Agreement"), the Corporation committed to issue to the vendors up to a maximum of 1,971,440 common shares (original commitment of 3,800,000 earn-out shares less Mr. Hills and Mr. Hills portion of any earn-out shares issuable to MARK settlement of 1,828,560), subject to a defined earn-out formula (one common share for each \$7.50 in pre-tax net income generated by the asset purchased), for the period up to August 2003. No common shares were earned during the year ended March 31, 2003.
- (c) On December 14, 2000, the Corporation received a complaint filed by Todd H. Moore ("Moore") against the Corporation in the 150th District Court, Bexar County, Texas. Moore is seeking an order directing the Corporation to deliver an option to purchase 250,000 shares of the Corporation's common stock at \$1.50 per share, or, alternatively, damages of \$10 million, and certain other relief. Moore alleges that the Corporation retained him in 1998 to assist in raising media exposure of the Corporation and that as compensation for such services Moore was to receive the stock option. In December 1999, Moore filed a similar suit against the Corporation in the United States District Court, Western District of Washington, alleging substantially the same facts as those set forth above. The original suit was dismissed with prejudice on June 5, 2000. Moore filed a motion with the court in Washington to attempt to have the dismissal in the prior suit changed to a dismissal without prejudice, this motion was granted by the court in February 2001. The Corporation believes this suit is without merit and intends to defend this action vigorously. At March 31, 2003, no amount has been accrued on this matter.
- (d) The Corporation is a party to additional ordinary litigation incidental to its business, none of which is expected to have a material adverse effect on results of operations, financial position or liquidity of the Corporation.

F-16

(e) Operating lease obligations

Future minimum lease payments for obligations under operating leases, including premises, are as follows:

| | \$ |
|------|---------|
| 2004 | 274,783 |
| 2005 | 132,461 |
| 2006 | 41,129 |
| | 448,373 |

The Corporation's rent expense totaled \$474,544 in 2003, \$410,001 in 2002 and \$377,264 in 2001.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

- (a) Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2003, the Corporation received notification of the issuance of U.S. Patent No. 6,547,129. This patent addresses electronic check processing and relates to existing U.S. Patent Nos. 5,484,988, 6,164,528, 6,283,366 and 6,354,491.
- (b) Subsequent to the year end, the Corporation through its subsidiary LHTW Properties Inc., sold its real property located in Wildwood Florida. Gross proceeds from the sale total approximately \$2,400,000 cash.

17. RECONCILIATION OF CANADIAN TO UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

These financial statements are prepared using Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("CDN GAAP"), which do not differ materially from United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") with respect to the accounting policies and disclosures in these financial statements except as set out below:

- (a) Under U.S. GAAP, the Corporation could not effect the reduction in deficit of \$22,901,744 by reducing the stated capital of the shares of the Corporation's common stock.
- (b) The Corporation has adopted the "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" standard under CICA 3062 and SFAS 142 effective April 1, 2002 as disclosed in Note 4 (a). The US standard, SFAS 142 is identical to CICA 3062 except in one respect. Under the Canadian basis, the impairment is recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of the year while under the US basis, the impairment is reflected as a cumulative effect of an accounting change in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

F-17

Adjustments under U.S. GAAP result in changes to the Consolidated Statement of Operations of the Corporation as follows:

| | Year ended | | |
|--|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| | | March 31 | |
| | 2003 | 2002 | 2001 |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Net loss - CDN GAAP | (3,048,085) | (5,238,467) | (5,667,482) |
| U.S. GAAP adjustments: | | | |
| Cumulative effect of accounting change | (6,433,586) | - | - |
| Net loss - U.S. GAAP | (9,481,671) | (5,238,467) | (5,667,482) |
| Loss per share - CDN GAAP | | | |
| Basic and Diluted | (0.16) | (0.27) | (0.34) |

U.S. GAAP adjustments:

Basic and Diluted

(0.49)

There are no adjustments under U.S. GAAP that resulted in changes to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows or the Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Corporation.

(0.27)

(0.34)